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SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  …the Senate Insurance Committee.  We apologize for our delayed start.  The Appropriations Committee had the suspense file on and it went longer than anticipated.


I welcome Senator Soto here.


We are going to be joined by the new Vice-Chair of the Committee, hopefully, Bill Morrow.  Senator Ross Johnson is no longer going to be on the committee nor Vice-Chair and eventually we will be joined by Tim Conaghan who is the new Republican consultant to the Senate Insurance Committee.  In their absence, we welcome them all.


The title of our hearing today is State Compensation Insurance Fund Versus Insurance Commissioner:  Can California Win? (and Other Issues).


We're here to talk to the State Compensation Insurance Fund about its lawsuit against the Department of Insurance and vice-versa.  As it turns out, the Department of Insurance dropped its suit just a few days ago and that's a good start.  Now I'd like to see State Fund make the same decision.


The market doesn't know whether State Fund will drop rates significantly, whether it will be in charge of its business affairs, or whether the insurance commissioner will, and I believe the market doesn’t know whether State Fund's finances are in good shape.


If private carriers know that State Fund's finances are in good shape and that it won't go broke, then carriers, I believe, will compete.  The link is through CIGA.  Private carriers express some concern that they could get saddled with State Fund's debt because ultimately CIGA is obligated to pay claims if State Fund does not.


We've seen the concerns of CIGA become even more exacerbated by the insolvencies of a number of insurance firms across the state.  But now I have a different concern.  It is my belief that taxpayers won't end up bailing out -- it is my belief that taxpayers would end up bailing out State Fund.  We're not obligated under the law to bail out State Fund but I believe the pressure on the legislature would be so great that a bailout would be inevitable should State Fund become insolvent. 


Furthermore, on Monday, SCIF released the results of a 2003 audit performed by KPMG.  SCIF has stated to my staff that it did not book the disputed $1 billion.  SCIF continues to state that the $1 billion wasn't necessary.


Today we're going to learn about the lawsuit, State Fund's operations, and about how we can get carriers to compete in this marketplace, preferably by getting the suit settled and getting State Fund's business operations into good shape.


We're here to listen to State Fund and to the insurance commissioner.  However, I want to be clear to both leaders of their respective agencies.  This lawsuit must end.  Two state entities suing each other is untenable.

And I want to send a message to the board of directors of State Fund.  Every member of the legislature to whom I speak detests this lawsuit and believes that it is pointless, Republicans and Democrats alike.  My advice is simple:  End the suit, agree to go to the governor's office or to my office, and get this hammered out.  This isn't tough.  It just takes leadership.

In the interests of full disclosure, Senators Johnson and I met with the insurance commissioner and the president of State Fund over a month ago and attempted to mediate a settlement.  The agreement didn't occur during that meeting and I then indicated, that if the two parties didn't settle the suit within a week, I'd air the laundry in public.  Those were my exact words and here we are today.  This is a load of laundry that calls for a lot of bleach and hopefully this hearing will give us the opportunity to clean the laundry, so to speak.

With that, I want to invite -- Senator Soto, do you have any opening comments?

I will now ask the president of the State Compensation Insurance Fund, Dianne Oki, to come forward and make her opening remarks.  They will be followed by Insurance Commissioner John Garamendi and then there will be questions from members.

And if you would like to have one of your -- you can take as many as you need.

I think it's on now.

MS. DIANNE OKI:  …so it must have come in like late yesterday.  And as a result, we didn't have time to research all the questions but we'll do the best we can on this short notice.

State Fund has been in operation for 90 years and it was created by the legislature, and it was created basically to make sure that there was an available market for workers' comp in California and they have the foresight to know that private carriers would come in and out of the market as market conditions dictated.  But they wanted to make sure there was a stabilizing force and an availability.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Oki, if you would put your, kind of push that microphone closer to your mouth.

MS. OKI:  Okay.  Is that better?

SENATOR SPEIER:  Much better.

MS. OKI:  We are a nonprofit, public enterprise.  We receive no monies from the state and the state is, as you stated, is not financially obligated towards State Fund.

The legislature in the enacting legislation has specified that the oversight of operations are vested in the board of directors who are policyholders, and we operate as a neutral.  These policyholder members of our board of directors are appointed by the governor.  In addition to these people, we have the director of the Department of Industrial Relations on our board and a representative of the Senate who was appointed by the President pro Tempore and a representative of the Assembly who is appointed by the speaker.

Brian had called and asked if a member of the board could be present and I’m not sure he's here yet, but Jay Hanson ?? who was appointed by the Speaker of the Assembly said he would certainly try to make the hearing.

The board in turn appoints the president in State Fund so that's basically how we operate.  Throughout our history, we've contracted and expanded in the marketplace in response to private carriers coming in and out of the market.  In 1991, we had $1.89 billion in premiums.  And over the next nine years, and including the start of open rating, our premium went down.  At one point, we were below a billion dollars.  It wasn't until ten years later in 2001 that we equaled or exceeded the premium we had in 1991.  We grew very rapidly at that point to 3.63 billion in 2002; 5.49 billion; and in 2003, at 7.79 billion.

As far as we can tell for 2003, the bureau figures would indicate that we hold about 36 percent of the total insured market in California.  If you take out the deductible policies and some of the exotic policies, that would leave us with about 53 percent of the fully insured market.


Okay.  Why did we grow so fast?  I won’t go through the whole thing.  But basically, by 2001, approximately 28 carriers had gone bankrupt or had withdrawn totally from the market.  And so there were literally billions of dollars that couldn't be placed anywhere else, so we absorbed that which is our mission and we grew rapidly.


Has this surge in premium caused strains on our resources and finances?  
Yes, it has. Are we hoping that the private carriers will come back into the market and give us some relief?  You bet.  In the meanwhile, are we fulfilling our mission and mandate?  Absolutely.


Why are we in litigation?  So I guess we'll tell our side and then we'll give the commissioner an opportunity basically to tell his side.


It is essentially over one issue, and that is, the applicability of the risk-based capital standards by the commissioner to State Fund as an entity.  Risk-based capital standards are a pretty complex way of assessing risk in an insurance company, and the bottom-line figure is whether or not you're carrying enough surplus which is, I think of it as the rainy-day-contingency fund for anything bad that can happen to the insurance company relative to its premium.


This is a relatively new measure and it was adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.  And we have talked to Vincent Lanzano ?? who was the godfather of the RBC who introduced it to the NAIC about the applicability to State Funds.  And his opinion to us was, for what it's worth, mono-line carriers that are State Funds in one state and whose job it is, is to take all comers, it shouldn't apply to them because the thing that premium-to-surplus will tell you is when to stop writing business.  So that would leave the State Fund in an untenable public policy position if it's applied to State Fund, to either charge employers so much money in order to build that surplus that literally, they would be driven out of business or to refuse to take on any new business, thereby leaving employers and injured workers uninsured.  So you can either do those things which are not good public policy or you leave yourself so financially vulnerable.


Now I don't disagree with the commissioner on the point that RBC is good; it’s a good ethic guideline and I think for any entity that is not forced to take literally all comers, it certainly has some applicability and the State Fund would like to work toward full compliance of RBC standards.  We don’t, however, believe that it should be applied to State Fund in terms of taking mandatory control in the operations of State Fund.


What brought about the lawsuit was, in the beginning, I think the Department and State Fund tried to work very hard together over this RBC issue and we implemented a number of business plans at the request of the Department that included, and we're still doing, requiring three declinations before we'll write a new piece of business so that we make sure that someone seeking insurance has tried to get it elsewhere before we write them.  They've asked us to cut commissions, which we have, just decertify some of our brokers which we have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is the commission you're offering now?


MS. OKI:  A maximum of 5.5. percent.  Some business, we give no commissions on and so it varies from zero to a maximum of 5.5 percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So no one gets higher than 5.5 percent?


MS. OKI:  No, not for any policies accepting as of this year.  Now in the past, we have had higher commissions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Historically, how much were you offering last year?


MS. OKI:  Let's see.  The highest commission last year, I believe, was 8 percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How about policies renewing this year?  Will that 8 percent commission still hold?


MS. OKI:  No, no.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So someone who was given an 8 percent commission last year will not get an 8 percent commission this year?


MS. OKI:  No.  But if they received, say, an 8 percent commission on July 1, that would carry over until July 1 of this year at which point the maximum would be 5.5.


This all came to a head because we had a disagreement over our 2002 audit at which point in time, without going into all the details, we believed that we had sufficient reserves.  Our opinion was backed by Milliman USA which is our appointed actuary and one of the most highly regarded reserve actuarial firms in the nation.  On the other hand, our auditor, PwC and CDI, believed that we were about a billion dollars under-reserved at the end of 2002.


So the bottom line came to be, they told us they were pulling a billion dollars out of surplus and into reserves and that was at which point we filed a suit and asked that the courts clarify the applicability of RBC to State Fund, and we felt we were obligated to do this in order to protect our 260,000 policyholders and injured workers so that's where we're at, at this point in time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that the extent of your comments then?


MS. OKI:  Opening comments, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MS. OKI:  There probably is something I should add, just to clarify.


There have been like accusations as to whether or not we believe we fall under any jurisdiction of the insurance commissioner and I should clarify that of course we do.  The insurance commissioner does all the same audits over us as they do other carriers which are financial audits, market conduct claims, claims audits, any number of them.  We submit our financials quarterly to the insurance commissioner for their review but they, of course, send in their own auditors.


We submit our audit every year to the insurance commissioner.  We submit our rates to the commissioner.  So essentially the point of contention is over the RBC and the fact that we're a little constitutionally different than other insurance carriers in that we don't hold the license in California because we're created by the legislature as a constitutional entity.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  How many claims do you have?


MS. OKI:  How many claims?  We normally receive approximately, about 224,000 but I can check that for you.


SENATOR SOTO:  What kinds of claims are they?  What's the extent of them?

MS. OKI:  Most of them are minor claims.  That would be like medicals only with no permanent disability.  But, of course, we have an entire range of serious injuries, including very catastrophic injuries to injured workers so it runs the full gamut from what is basically first aid to people who, unfortunately, would be like oxygen-dependent, quadriplegic, so it runs the entire gamut.


I can give you, let's see, probably a little bit more on the claims area.  Let's see, through January, through March of this year, let's see, we have 211,000 new cases and we received new reportings -- that's total new reportings -- in the first quarter this year of 43,588.  In 2003, our total new reportings were 214,000.  And in 2002, there were 228,000.


SENATOR SOTO:  It seems like a lot to me.


MS. OKI:  It is.  We're a pretty big operation which means we handle a lot of claims and a lot of premium.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Ms. Oki, let's go back in history a little bit.


MS. OKI:  Sure.


SENATOR SPEIER:  In 1935, the legislature passes a law that say "The commissioner shall have the same powers and authority to examine the State Compensation Insurance Fund as are conferred upon him by law relative to the examination of all other insurers."


Do you dispute that?


MS. OKI:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you believe that the insurance commissioner does have authority over you?


MS. OKI:  Yes, to examine us as it says in that statute.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And your term of "examine" falls short of doing anything besides looking at your books?


MS. OKI:  No.  It falls short of taking over the operations of the fund or shutting us down.  But certainly, the insurance commissioner would take a look at us, make reports to us.  And if they wanted to, for instance, take us over and shut us down, I would think that they would report to the governor and the legislature rather than as you would normally do with a regular insurance company.


One of the things I should point is, the reason you give the insurance commissioner this authority to step in and take over a company is that you want to preserve the assets of that company and not have it given out to stockholders or given out to parent companies, subsidiaries, in other words, protect what's left of the assets.  The State Fund is very different and we don't have stockholders; we don't have subsidiaries or parent companies.  All the monies that we have invested are at the State Treasurer's Office.  There is not the need to take that over and to protect the assets as such.  I hope that clarifies it to some extent, why there is a difference here.  Nobody's running off with it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, State Farm is a mutual company.


MS. OKI:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it not?  And it's under the complete jurisdiction of the insurance commission.  So even though you don't have that same concern with that mutual company -- I mean they're not going to run off; the shareholder is not going to run off.  But do you dispute that the insurance commissioner would have the authority if State Fund did not meet the standards that it could come under conservatorship by the insurance commissioner?


MS. OKI:  Well, I think that's why we're in litigation, to get clarification on that point.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let's move forward.  In 2002, AB 1985 by Assemblymember Calderon was enacted that established that every property casualty insurer, including workers' compensation carriers, must be examined by the Department of Insurance to determine if it meets RBC, risk-based capital.  So that's pretty clear.


Now you said you talked with the father of the national standard.  Did you ever talk to Mr. Calderon about what he intended by that legislation?


MS. OKI:  No, we have not.  Well, I have not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Isn't that more relevant than what's happening on a federal level in model legislation?

MS. OKI:  Go ahead.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Turn your mike…


MR. CHARLES SAVAGE:  I think it's on.  The legislation, as far as we're concerned, in looking through the legislative history of 1985, was never intended to cover the State Compensation Insurance Fund.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me…

MR. SAVAGE:  I submitted a paper on that point and it's very clear from the legislative history that State Fund was not to be considered as one of the other property and casualty carriers as an admitted carrier of California because we were mono-lined because of our statutory creation and our constitutional mandate to provide an available market for workers' compensation insurance.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Mr. Savage, when you say "the legislative history," do you consider the floor analysis of a bill to be legislative history?


MR. SAVAGE:  I consider everything that goes into the creation of the bill -- the submissions, the various writings of it -- all part of the legislative history.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I'm asking just a very simple question.  Do you believe that the Senate floor analysis, for instance, would be legislative history and legislative intent?


MR. SAVAGE:  As to legislative intent, you can't go through and just pick and choose that which you feel is applicable and that which is not applicable.  It's all part of the legislative history, all part of the legislative intent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me just ask you a question.  You're acting like a lawyer and it's not going to help you in a legislative hearing.  I'm not a judge, okay?


MR. SAVAGE:  All right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So let's just answer my questions.  Do you believe that the Senate floor analysis is part of the legislative history?


MR. SAVAGE:  It is.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  I'm sure you've read it but let me point out to you again that the Assembly bill analysis on the Senate floor provides that one of the elements of this bill was to revise the definition of property and casualty insurer in the context of the provisions relating to risk-based capital to include the State Compensation Insurance Fund.


Now I don’t think anything is more specific than that.


MS. OKI:  I'm sure the judge would take that into consideration.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I think my point was, we shouldn't be in court.  Two state agencies should not be in court over this.  You are using funds, whether they're taxpayer funds or funds from those who pay premiums to you to litigate on something that the parties should come together and resolve, period.  You're state employees.  Are you not a state employee?


MS. OKI:  Yes, I am.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So for all the talk about State Fund being different, the fact of the matter is that State Fund is made up of individuals who are state employees.  The building you're in is a state building or leased as if it was a state building; is that correct?


MS. OKI:  I'm not sure about the gist of your question.  The state, we don't get any monies from the state.  We don't expend any of the state's money per se.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You are a state employee.  You are going to get PERS retirement when you retire; is that correct?


MS. OKI:  That is correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  It is a state function.


MS. OKI:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It is described as such in 1935 when the insurance commissioner was given authority over State Fund.  You are specifically referred to in a bill that became law that would require you to be subject to risk-based capital and you're disputing that.


MR. SAVAGE:  That is correct.  We are disputing that in court because it was our understanding that the bill was in its final form as passed and was signed by the governor.  It was never intended to cover the State Compensation Insurance Fund.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So if the governor knocked on your door tomorrow and said I think you should be subject to this, what would you do?  Would you still continue the lawsuit?


MR. SAVAGE:  We have not had that discussion with the governor and we've asked the governor for input.  And as far as we're concerned, it's the governor's position that we are not subject to risk-based capital law so I cannot…


SENATOR SPEIER:  How do you know that?


MR. SAVAGE:  We've had discussions with the governor's staff on this point.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the governor's staff has said to you that we don't believe that you're subject to risk-based capital?


MR. SAVAGE:  That's my impression from talking to the governor's staff, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is an impression?  Did they say that or is that just something that you are inferring by comments where they nodded their head?  Did they say to you, you know, we agree with you; we don't think you're subject to risk-based capital; go forth and continue the lawsuit.  Did they say that?


MS. OKI:  They did say that they would not interfere with the lawsuit so that basically -- I would take it to mean that they feel that the separation between the executive branch, the judicial and the legislature, should remain so to some extent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  My concern is this, you have 53 percent of the market.  There are employers throughout the state that are relying on the fact that the premiums they're paying are going to be sufficient to pay any claims that are filed against them in workers' compensation.  If risk-based capital is now being imposed on every other workers' compensation insurance company in the state but not State Fund, and whether you or some future president places the Fund in jeopardy by not having proper reserves and as a result either the state legislature has to pass the bill that they allowed the Fund or CIGA has to increase its fees to employers in order to pay the claims, that would not be good.


MS. OKI:  Okay.  May I speak to our financials because I think you're making an assumption here that we do not have adequate reserves.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, I'm not.  I'm saying that in fact last year you disputed whether or not you needed to put a billion dollars more in reserves.  That's what the insurance commissioner recommended.  He then reduced that to something close to $750 million.  At the time, you said you did not believe that medical care inflation was going up and therefore did not need to increase your reserves.  And then earlier this year, it's my understanding you did increase your reserves by $283 million.


Now why is it you didn't think that medical inflation was going up last year so you didn't need to increase your reserves but this year you've now increased it by 283 million?


MS. OKI:  If you look at -- well, I should allow our actuary probably to speak to that.


MR. JAMES NEARY:  We continuously evaluate our reserves every quarter, both in house and with the consulting firm of Milliman USA, and we have an open mind to changes in reserves' position.  Each quarter, we take a position on what we think the appropriate reserve level is.  We have increased our opinion on 2002 of prior claims by about $280 million.  It's a result of the routine quarterly reevaluation.


We've also benefited mightily by the reforms that the legislature has passed.  And as you…


SENATOR SPEIER:  So why would you increase your reserves if you benefited from the reforms that have been passed?  Arguably, the costs should be coming down and you would not be increasing your reserves.


MR. NEARY:  Well, the insurance commissioner was arguing to us that we should increase our reserves by a billion dollars.  What has ultimately happened is we've increased our reserves by about $280 million and the legislature has passed significant reform that both the commissioner and the State Fund agree have reduced that original billion dollar figure.  So the billion dollar figure has come, in the notes for the hearing, has come down to $750 million as it was communicated to us September 30.  We have recognized an additional $280 million of that $750 million.  So the difference between us and the commissioner's position as of September 30 was on the order of magnitude of about $550 million.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Let's, for discussion purposes, say that those two measures were not passed.  What would you have recommended then to increase your reserves by if those two measures hadn't passed?


MR. NEARY:  The $280 million were decided on before the measures were passed so those were recognized in advance of the passage of those measures.  It's possible that the reserves will come down an additional amount because of the passage of 899 which will have additional beneficial, retroactive effect on the reserve.
SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I'm reading here from the document that you've published.  It says "Management has considered reform benefits anticipated as claims are settled in the future for the estimated liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2003."


MR. NEARY:  Yes.


MS. OKI:  Well, perhaps -- 


MR. NEARY:  Well…


MS. OKI:  -- this might clarify something.  Based on the actual progression of losses at the end of last year, it might have benefited us, for instance, to have added just based on a straight-line progression.  But because the reform was passed, there was some question of whether or not any more would be needed despite that progression and we determined at the end of 2003 that we were optimistic about the effects of the legislation into the future and didn't add additional monies.  So it's not a question of why didn't we take monies out of the reserves because we felt that those were accurate.  It was a question based on some progression whether we should have added some and we determined that that probably wasn't necessary, given that there was some legislation passed.


The methodology of which there was a disagreement between CDI and State Fund on the reserves basically were over the level of medical inflation, and the commissioner can speak more to his evaluation.  But basically it said that the level of inflation that had taken place in 2001/2002 would go on forever at that rate of increase over the next 30 years which is considered like the life of the claim.  It was our feeling that that could not be the case because rates had already risen so high that at that level medical inflation did increase at that level.  There would be no workers' comp affordable for anybody, so it was impractical and we felt that what we had on the books was deemed adequate by ourselves and by Milliman USA and so we stuck with our number.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you think the lawsuits prevented you from reducing your rate?


MS. OKI:  No, not at all.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why not?


MS. OKI:  Well, frankly, it's pretty much the opposite.  The lawsuit has prevented the commissioner from declaring us to be under mandatory control and by moving a billion dollars out of surplus into reserves, which is what had been their stated intent.  If we had lost a billion dollars out of surplus, we would have had to raise rates tremendously in order to build that surplus back up.  So if anything, the lawsuit is even -- you can look at it as being neutral or as in helping us hold down rates.  It certainly hasn't been any kind of catalyst for us to increase rates or not to bring them down.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now you have a market share of 53 percent today.  What is your target in two years to be your market share?


MS. OKI:  Well, we don't have a target market share because we don't create the market; we respond to it.  I am personally more comfortable when we were back at about 25 to 30 percent of the market.  But we go down and we have been much lower than that and we have come up to fill the voids in the market.  But it would be kind of arrogant on our part to assume that we could make plans to say next year we're only to go have such and such a market rate when we have to respond to whatever vacuum is out there.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But it's never been the intent of the creation of SCIF that it have the lion's share of the market.  It's always been the provider of last resort; and it would seem to me, that with these reforms that have taken place, there would be an expectation now that the fund would start developing a plan to reduce its share of the  market.


MS. OKI:  We have in the sense that we don't even write any new piece of business without asking that account to shop it around in most cases and to bring us three declinations.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You already have 53 percent, though, so that's about growing, not about reducing.


MS. OKI:  We're not growing because we're trying to get more market share.  We would like to have less market share.  But in order to have less market share than the atmosphere and the system, and that's what the legislature has been working on in the reforms, is to create a more predictable and somewhat more profitable market, affordable for employers and profitable for carriers, so that they will come back into the market and we would welcome that.

MR. NEARY?  A distinction has to be made between the share of the premium market and the share of exposures in the market.  Effectively, the State Fund's growth ended about June of 2002 in terms of exposure.  There have been significant rate increases since then so our premium has gone up considerably since then; and our market share in terms of premium has gone up.  But the growth of the State Fund and exposure essentially ended in June of 2002.  Last year in 2003, if you measure the new business that we brought in at its estimated annual value versus the lost business at its estimated annual value, we lost about 150 million of net business in 2003.  We lost another $150 million worth of business in the first quarter of 2004.


So the plans that were put in place and, of course, that has to be judged relative to a $7.6 billion premium figure for last year, so we believe we're on a declining market basis and that the competitive market is in fact coming back in California.  The key for us is doing this in a rational fashion so that the rather high prices that we're charging now both entices competitors back into the marketplaces and encourages some of our policyholders to move to the private market.  We have to do this in a fashion that doesn't cause a huge dis-intermediation.  A loss of a billion, $2 billion worth of premium in one or two years would be seriously disruptive, both to the State Fund and to the market as a whole.  So we're trying to put the state, the workers' comp market in a glide path here that brings down the State Fund's market share and State Fund's premium, brings back the competitive market, but does it in a reasoned fashion going forward.


SENATOR SPEIER:  According to Mr. Perkins who did a quick analysis, based on those numbers you just gave us, you would shed business at 2 percent per year which would mean that to get down to a goal of 25 percent would take probably a generation.


MR. NEARY:  One needs to understand the turn of a market.  What turns a market is what the legislature has done in the recent reform.  The private carriers have to look at the California market differently than they have been looking at it.  The way they have been looking at it is a market where costs were out of control, where 28 carriers went insolvent and where you couldn't make a profit.  All of that was reinforced by analyses by A.M. Best and Standard & Poors and the National Rating Agency.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. NEARY:  California was the third rail.  If you had exposure in California, you were subject to criticism.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Let me just ask two more questions of you and then we'll have the commissioner come forward and then we'll come back to talk about some of your operational issues.


Do you believe, have you made any projections of how much the last workers' comp reform package that was just passed, how much you're going to be able to reduce your rates?


MS. OKI:  We are doing analysis and we're also looking at the workers' compensation insurance rating bureau figures.  This last round, they felt that the needed impact would be about -2.9, less than the 1.1 ?? rates based on the cap on TD.  But they cannot rate out and we're having difficulty ourselves rating out permanent disability and the increased medical control because that will not be in effect, some of those pieces, until the division of workers' compensation puts together the new PD schedules and IMU lists and whatever they have until January next year.  So until you get, until we have somewhat of a handle on that, it's going to be difficult.  But we are in the process of taking a look at it now so that we can promulgate July 1 rates.


SENATOR SPEIER:  When you say it's going to be difficult, does that mean that no one should get too excited about rates going down?


MS. OKI:  I personally, and I can only speak for the Fund, I don’t think there's going to be a precipitous rate drop at this point in time.  I think over time, all these reforms will coalesce and I think the employers will get some substantial rate relief.  But I have to be honest with you.  At the end of 2003, if you look at our financial and you look at our combined, which is the loss ratio we had, and including expenses, that accounted for over 99 percent of our premium.  So it's not like we have a lot of fat to cut.  The 637, I believe is the figure we put into surplus, all came out of the investment income, not out of excessive rates.  For the first quarter this year, our combined is in the mid-90s.  I believe it was about 97 percent.


So again, we're not looking at more than a couple of points of profit that are inherent in our rates.  So it's not like we're gouging employers and refusing to pull down our rates.  There isn't profit yet in our rates.  Even though we are implementing all the reform and we expect it down the road, it will, as I say, coalesce into savings.  It would be somewhat irresponsible on the part of State Fund to precipitously cut rates before we are making any profit on the existing rate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Ms. Oki, you serve at the pleasure of the board of directors.


MS. OKI:  I do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the board of directors is appointed by both the governor and by the legislative leadership in both houses, correct?


MS. OKI:  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If your board said to you, we want you to settle this lawsuit, would you do it?


MS. OKI:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Would you engage in binding arbitration with the governor's office?


MS. OKI:  I'll defer that one to…


SENATOR SPEIER:  To Charles.


MR. SAVAGE:  We already have a judge who's been fully engaged in this case for some time.  He's, this Friday, tomorrow, going to be setting this matter for a trial.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Savage, you don't answer questions and that's a problem.


MR. SAVAGE:  Okay.  The answer is no.  We're not going to submit to binding arbitration.  We have a judge that's going to hear this matter and make a decision.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If the governor said to you, I want you to come in here and I want this resolved, you would comply?


MR. SAVAGE:  We would do it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You would?


MR. SAVAGE:  If the governor came to us and said, I want you to come into my office and I'll resolve this issue, we could certainly, we would have to listen to it.  He has not asked us to do that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Short of that,  you will go to court?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.


MR. NEARY:  Well, not quite.  We have publicly expressed a willingness to engage in a process with the Department of Insurance to try to work to a mutually acceptable solution.  The suggestion was for their attorneys and our attorneys to get together and to work out something that balances the need for the State Fund to be able to serve as a shock absorber and to write a lot of business when it needs to write a lot of business against the need for the State Fund to have an adequate surplus position.  Both of those are important public policy positions.


The problem that the State Fund has is that it puts us into a Hobbesian choice of, if 28 carriers go insolvent in the market, do we do the market of last resort, public policy role, and provide coverage and make a market for California employers; or do we look at our surplus position and say I can only afford to write $4 billion worth of premium?  After we've written $4 billion worth of premium, we should stop.


The balancing of what's the appropriate surplus position with being a sponge to the market that absorbs a lot of business, creates a genuine, real public policy dilemma for us, and it's a dilemma that is important.  The legislature has tried to solve this in both of the last two sessions -- this issue of risk-based capital is applicable to the State Fund -- was positions were taken in various bills and the outcome was no decision either way.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I totally disagree with you.  It was absolutely specified in the Calderon bill and the Senate Floor Analysis specifies it.  But to say that you're not subject to it, to me, is just not the case.  Now maybe you don't like being subject to it and maybe you want to amend that, but I would argue that that's what it is.


MS. OKI:  There must have been some confusion on some people's part because, in the Vargas bill, there was something put in there that said that we would come under RBC, was there not?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I can't speak to Assemblyman Vargas's mindset.  I'm just telling you what…


MS. OKI:  But you're implying that there is no doubt in any legislator's minds an I'm saying, at least if you haven't addressed that issue, there must be some confusion on some people's part.  Maybe not on yours or the committee's part but on someone's part or there wouldn't have been the debate over whether or not to include or exclude the State Fund from RBC in the various bills.  I believe…


SENATOR SPEIER:  I think this is really a power play between the two parties.  That's what this is all about.  This is a power play that's going on and it's being played out, I think, to the detriment of the taxpayers of the state…


MS. OKI:  I would like it to end.  And if the commissioner would say, look, we do want to make sure that your finances are okay because that's my role -- but I am not applying risk-based capital standards to you because you are the shock absorber to the market and I am not going to exercise like mandatory control and regulatory control.  But, rather, as long as you are making the good financial progress that you are making and that RBC does not apply to the State Fund, we wouldn't have to be in this lawsuit.  So it's not like we would like to continue on with it.  Being involved in a lawsuit is not a very pleasant experience.  But as long as there is that threat over us, I feel compelled as the president of the Fund to protect the policyholders and the finances of State Fund to make sure that decisions about such things are made in a purely business and financial way to the benefit of policyholders and injured workers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Even though the law already says that you're subject to risk-based capital?



MS. OKI:  Well, we have to agree to disagree on that, Madam Chairman.


MR. NEARY:  Could we identify two levels to this problem?  There is the technical issue of whether risk-based capital, as it's currently in the law, applies to the State Fund.  In a lot of ways, the basis of our lawsuit is based on that.  I mean we have argued in the lawsuit that the way it is drafted, it is not technically applied to the State Fund.  Give us the willing suspension of disbelief that there's at least a prima facie argument that we've been able to make on that extent.  But beyond that, the real issue behind all of this is whether risk-based capital is appropriate for the State Fund and the role in which public policymakers want the State Fund to play in the marketplace. And this is not so important right now.


The current crisis in the market is over.  The 28 carriers went insolvent.  There was a huge shift of business to the State Fund.  The State Fund increased rates mightily; the State Fund has increased surplus and will increase surplus some more.  All of that is essentially history now.


What we're talking about at this point is the next crisis for the market, five to seven years down the line, and what the managers of the State Fund at that time -- we're not going to be here -- are going to do, faced with the Hobbesian choice of do we respond to market need and provide the coverage that employers need, or do we look to what the legislature is telling us, that we have a limited surplus and we should write a limited amount of business?  Somehow, we need a public policy resolution that balances a need for market availability with the market need for State Fund responsible solvency.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, Mr. Neary, I think that the solution is one that you resolve through the legislature, not one that you take a sister agency to court over.  And furthermore, there is a, I believe in previous conversations that we have had, the impression I get, and correct me if I'm wrong, Ms. Oki, is that while the insurance commissioner has authority to look at your books, when it really comes to whether or not the insurance commissioner can exercise the same authority that he or she has on any other workers' compensation insurance company in the state in terms of putting them on watch, taking conservatorship of them, that you do not believe the insurance commissioner has that authority over State Fund.


MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.

MR. NEARY:  On a technical level, we're saying that, yes, we do not think the commissioner…

SENATOR SPEIER:  So who does?  My question always comes to the end, well, then who does?  You can't expect the legislature to take you over.  Who's going to take you over?  Who is ultimately going…

MR. SAVAGE:  We respond to the board of directors and to the governor.

SENATOR SPEIER:  You respond to a board of directors.  The board of directors is appointed by the governor and legislative leadership.

This board of directors meets how often?

MS. OKI:  We meet formally every other month and informally by telephone or whatever as needed.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So you meet six times a year, and how long are your meetings?

MS. OKI:  Usually last at least four hours.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So you're telling me that the board of directors of State Fund meets for a total of 24 hours in an entire year and that is the kind of leadership and competence that we need in order to make sure that the Fund is in top-notch working order?

MS. OKI:  Well, first of all, that may be the time they actually meet as a group but I send them a tremendous amount of material.  They usually get about eight inches' worth of various materials, reports from all of us, so they do a lot of work outside…

SENATOR SPEIER:  And they're volunteers, aren't they?

MS. OKI:  Well, I don't know to what degree they volunteered to be on the board but they were selected by the governor.  And I can't say if they wanted it or just took it.

SENATOR SPEIER:  But they have other jobs.  They're not being paid a salary.

MS. OKI:  That is true.

SENATOR SPEIER:  They're paid probably $100 a meeting or something like that; is that correct?  So I mean, for all intents and purposes, they're a volunteer board.

MS. OKI:  Like most corporations are.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.  Most corporations have boards that have membership where they get thousands of dollars per meeting and stock options and lots of other things.  It's very much, it's like a nonprofit board.

MS. OKI:  That is correct.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. NEARY:  Can I just say a word as a manager?

SENATOR SPEIER:  I think we'll wait and you can respond once we've had the commissioner speak.

We welcome Senator Ortiz.

SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner, welcome.


COMMISSIONER JOHN GARAMENDI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I have a written testimony I'd like to present to you and then answer whatever questions you may have of us.


I have with me my general counsel, Gary Cohen; my chief deputy, Rick Baum; and the head of our Financial Analysis Division, Ramon Calderon.


Madam Chair, Members of the Committee, I welcome this opportunity to appear before you today on the matter of great importance to California, its employers, its injured workers, namely, the financial health and the efficient and effective operation of the State Compensation Insurance Fund.  Because it controls more than 50 percent of the state workers' compensation market, State Fund is essential, it is essential that State Fund be established as a healthy financially viable concern.  Unfortunately, the ongoing legal dispute, which was initiated by State Fund, has seriously impeded our best-faith efforts to help that organization address its current financial and management difficulties.


Indeed, this legal dispute highlights one inevitable and fundamental question of policy which I believe can only be resolved by you, the legislature, and the governor.  The question is this, Should the Department of Insurance regulate the largest workers' compensation insurer in the nation?


My answer, which I have made clear through numerous public statements, is that since State Fund operates as an insurance company, it should therefore be subject to the laws and regulations governing all other insurers.  State Fund, however, through its lawsuit and other actions, had made it clear that its management disagrees.  The people of the State of California have not benefited from this conflict.  State Fund must either accept regulation by the insurance commissioner, as does every other insurance company in the state, with the possible exception of those provisions of the Insurance Code providing for conservation and liquidation, and we can come to that later, or State Fund must operate independently of the Department of Insurance regulation and my authority as commissioner, thereby be limited to conducting audits of its business and reporting the results to the legislature and the governor.


The current situation is untenable.  I'm expected under law to fulfill my responsibilities, to regulate State Fund.  My best efforts are met with resistance.  State Fund's management has challenged my authority to examine and direct corrective action and has escalated its concerns about my authority to unworkable, adversarial levels.  Now a court is involved.  The legislature and the governor should clarify this situation, not the courts.


That being said, it's extremely important that you avoid mistaking this dispute as a mere turf battle between two state government entities.  The placement of authority over State Fund's regulation is not a turf battle.  It speaks to the near and the long-term economic health of our state.  In my opinion, it would be harmful to release the fund from all meaningful regulation.  The prospect of a tax-exempt, unregulated State Fund would in all probability frighten away other insurers looking to do business and in this already tight and difficult market.


As further evidence that this is no turf battle between me and the current State Fund management, red flags were raised about State Fund well before I took office.  Former Commissioner Harry Low expressed concerns over its condition during his term noting that the State Fund surplus had fallen to a level that could eventually threaten its ability to pay future claims by injured workers.  The department's staff under Harry Low's direction worked with management at State Fund to develop a plan that would put it back on sound, financial footing.


When I took office in January of 2003, I continued Commissioner Low's approach.  State Fund appeared to benefit from our mutual efforts until May of last year, 2003, when the cooperation suddenly ceased.  That break roughly coincided with reports from State Fund's outside auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, as well as our own department's examiners that State Fund's reserves were insufficient by a billion dollars.  State Fund management refused to increase its reserves as requested.  They fired PricewaterhouseCoopers and they sued me.


Fortunately, during our mutual efforts -- the legislature, the governor's, two/too ??, and my department and many others -- to reform the worker's compensation system, we designed and proposed solutions that would immediately improve the reserve situations of all insurers, including State Fund, through a one-time savings that I calculated at around $5 billion.  Because of that reform legislation enacted during 2003 and due to increases in its reserves that State Fund made at the end of last year -- it's a combination of those two things that are in play here -- the Fund is now in a better financial situation than it was when this controversy and lawsuit began.  State Fund's new auditor, KPMG, has determined that its reserves are adequate.  As required by law, my department is now completing its reserve review and will report to you and the public by July 1 on our view of the reserves.


However, it is important to note, that while KPMG certified State Fund's reserves as "adequate," it expressed no opinion as to the appropriate level of surplus for State Fund.  Reserves, that is, the dollars an insurer expects to pay over time for claims that have already occurred, are an insurer's largest liability.  Surplus, on the other hand, represents the additional assets or cushion.  An insurer must maintain above its reserves to meet unexpected obligations.


To arrive at an insurer's surplus level, one subtracts reserves and some additional specified liabilities from the total assets of the insurer.  In State Fund's case, those assets are around $15 billion.  State Fund has approximately 12.8 billion in reserves.  Thus, State Fund's surplus level is approximately 2.1 billion.


As we do with all other insurers, we have applied risk-based capital analysis to State Fund's financial situation.  This is the crux of our dispute.  In order for State Fund to rise above the RBC action level, its surplus, as of year end 2003, would have to be above 3.6 billion.  Compare that to the current 2.1 billion.  Therefore, although State Fund's reserves may not be as serious an issue now as when this debate began, we believe that State Fund's surplus remains dangerously low.


Now it is the department's duty under the law to monitor this surplus of insurers and to direct corrective action if needed and to ensure that such corrective action is implemented.  The fulfillment of these regulatory duties not only enhances financial stability but also that State Fund will compete with other market participants on a level playing field in terms of regulatory requirements.  No other state or regulatory entity performs this important task which we are given under the state's risk-based capital statues as they exist today.


So again, this controversy, in this controversy, it is up to the legislature and the governor to decide and, particularly, I think this is the governor's responsibility because he does appoint the board of directors of which five vote.  The other members, as articulated in earlier testimony, do not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So the five voting members are only the ones appointed by the governor?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That is correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I didn't realize that.  So the governor really is in charge completely?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  My view is, this is the governor's responsibility.  This entity, State Fund, is the single most important state agency in rebuilding, restarting, and getting the California economy moving because State Fund has such an extraordinary impact on virtually all small businesses in the state.


The question then is, Do we leave State Fund unregulated or is it to be regulated?  In addition, State Fund suffers from a number of management and operational problems that must be addressed.


Early last year, I urged the management of State Fund to hire an outside consultant to help it deal with those issues.  State Fund chose IBM Consulting which issued a report in July 2003 recommending remedial action in eight operational areas.  IBM conservatively estimated the implementation of these actions could save State Fund as much as $294 million annually.  That money would go directly to the surplus, should it be saved.


For example, IBM noted that 5 percent of workers' compensation claims account for 95 percent of State Fund's losses.  Yet, State Fund has no system in place to identify those claims on a timely basis to ensure that they are properly handled.  IBM reported that State Fund's current operational model impairs its ability to curb high-cost claims.  IBM also noted that State Fund may be missing opportunities in medical provider direction, fraud detection, denials of compensability, avoidance of fines, subrogation, legal cost avoidance, and early return to work.  This calls into question the organization's ability to pass on savings from the reforms that this legislature and two governors diligently worked to put in place.


I know that State Fund's record for identifying fraudulent claims and reporting them to the department lags far behind other insurers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Can you specify what you mean by that?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I mean, that if all the referrals that we receive from all insurers, State Fund's providing in the year 2003 less than 3 percent of the referrals.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Less than 3 percent of the referrals for workers' comp fraud investigations and 53 percent of the market?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  As other insurers, do they track based on their percentage of the market?  For instance, the next highest being what?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  No.  They would be far in excess of their percentage, simply because State Fund is so low.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you're saying that -- I understand what you're saying, less than 3 percent.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  This department, to continue on, this department has received complaints indicating that actions taken by State Fund may not be in compliance with the laws or with laws and regulations.


IBM also noted that other workers' compensation insurers in California receive regular discounts from top medical providers.  State Fund in many incidences has not done so, despite its advantageous bargaining position, holding more than 50 percent of the market.  State Fund also acknowledges that employers using different brokers can call different State Fund offices and get different premium quotes on the same risk.  IBM noted that State Fund lacked an adequate means of insuring consistency among its offices.

At present, I do not know whether State Fund has implemented IBM's recommendation.  My staff is now in the process of conducting an examination to determine the answer as well as to report to the legislature on State Fund's ability to pass the savings from the reform legislation as we are required to do pursuant to 228.  Assuming that State Fund cooperates, I should be able to provide you with good information in my report due July 1.

I had initially hoped to use the expertise of Neal/Neil ?? Connelly ??  and his associates in performing this review of State Fund's operation.  Mr. Connelly is a former head of the New York State Fund.  In that role, he was successful in overcoming many of the same challenges that California State Fund currently faces.  I believe that he is uniquely qualified to assist me in evaluating State Fund's operations and to provide suggestions on how to make improvements.

Clearly, my July 1 report to the legislature would have been more comprehensive had we been able to benefit from the services of Mr. Connelly.  Unfortunately, State Fund refused to permit Mr. Connelly to do his work.  As a result, in April, I instructed my legal staff to file suit against State Fund in court, asking the court to order it to permit Mr. Connelly's examination.  The court did not decide this issue in time for Mr. Connelly to complete his work so that it could be included in my report to the legislature and governor.  I have therefore dismissed the lawsuit.

I continue to believe that these issues should not be decided through lawsuits.  It is essential that the department's role as State Fund's regulator be clarified so that we are no longer forced to take legal action to effect regulation that could impact State Fund.  California will benefit greatly in the long run when my authority over State Fund is made clear, one way or the other.

How do we solve this problem?  We have identified numerous issues that are pertinent and critical to the success of State Fund and the proper resolution of those issues will have a significant impact on the well-being of the economy of California.  My effort was to work with State Fund to solve these problems.  My job and role of this department is to direct State Fund to develop corrective actions to resolve its financial and management difficulties and to see to it that those actions are carried out.  I have been thwarted in that effort.

It's now up to the legislature and, much more importantly, to the governor to determine whether State Fund will act as an insurer and remain subject to this department authority or whether it will become an unregulated entity.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.

Have you had any new insurers seeking certificates of operation here in California?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.

SENATOR SPEIER:  In workers' comp?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.  We have had several inquiries from organizations that wish to enter the California market and I believe two, maybe three of those have sought a certificate.

MR. RAMON CALDERON:  They're in the process.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Ramon.

MR. CALDERON:  Yes.  Some are in the process of putting together a business plan for submission to the department.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So you had ?? to issue any new certificates, but there are interests that have been…

MR. CALDERON:  That's correct.  We haven't issued any.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Now if I might just expand on that -- go ahead, Senator.  If you segue into a different question, then I'd like to expand.  If you have an additional question on the same subject, I'll take your question.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, no, go ahead because I was going to move onto another question.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Okay.  It's extremely important, in our view, that we get new capacity back into the California market.  Much of the legislative proposals that we put forth and much of what was enacted, together with what we suggested to State Fund, that they do, is specifically designed to encourage new companies and existing workers' compensation companies to increase their writings in California.  We clearly need more competition in the California marketplace.  With that competition, State Fund's share of the market should decline in a rational manner.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Have you ever had an insurance company decline to have someone you have designated review their books?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  They wouldn't dare.  Only one company  has dared to do that, both under my authority and under previous commissioner's authority.

SENATOR SPEIER:  And that's State Fund?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That's State Fund.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So when Commissioner Low was in your position, did he also request a review and was declined to…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It didn’t come to that.  In Commissioner Low's tenure, he recommended, I believe eight steps that State Fund should take to set its shift right.  It did not come to the point of auditors being sent in or examiners being sent in, although those were routinely underway, nor did it come to a point of corrective action that was denied.

Now the former president did in a letter to his policyholders state that the commissioner…

SENATOR SPEIER:  I remember it being a very heated letter.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  In a letter to the policyholders of June 7, 2002, the previous president of State Fund informed its policyholders that he had rejected the commissioner's recommendations on the grounds that -- well, he rejected the recommendations.  That's a different situation that I'm faced with today.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So in the situation where you recommended that State Fund get some management consultant to review their operation, they chose IBM.  IBM came up with eight recommendations that seemed pretty significant, particularly if you can shave $294 million annually from your operations.  And when was that received by you?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We had worked cooperatively with State Fund upon my arrival in January and February.  But by the end of February, it was decided that State Fund would hire a…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, the answer is here, July 2003.  So you received the report in July 2003.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Thank you.  (Laughter)

SENATOR SPEIER:  I missed it as well, as did State Fund.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That's correct.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So you've had that for, the benefit of that for nine months.  Have you taken those recommendations and gone to State Fund and said, have you implemented any of these; are you implementing any of these?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That timeframe coincides with the lawsuit that State Fund filed.  At that point, our ability to work with State Fund in a cooperative manner ceased.

Let me ask my general counsel to respond more completely.

MR. RICK BAUM:  I believe we did receive a report from State Fund in the early part of this year which we regarded as being somewhat unsatisfactory in the sense that they said they were just getting started on some things, but it wasn't clear to what extent they had actually begun to implement any of the IBM suggestions.  It was at that point that we thought we should send in Mr. Connelly who had the operational sophistication to be able to get in there and say, okay, what are they actually doing, what are they not doing, what do they need to do in order to implement those reforms?

SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner, you started to say that that coincided with the lawsuit being filed and then you no longer were in a position to…

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Well, that ceased the cooperative.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Cooperative.  But if an insurance company sued you, that would not bind your hand in your efforts to continue to regulate them, correct?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I think that is not correct.  The nature of the lawsuit, and perhaps my general counsel can answer it more completely, but the nature of the lawsuit, together with the attitude of the Fund towards our regulatory work, has made it very difficult for us to proceed.  For example, on the question of what are the appropriate reserves.  Prior to the filing of the lawsuit, we were back and forth with, okay, what is the number?  What should those reserves be?  The lawsuit came and that terminated that discussion.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So for all intents and purposes, they're operating at auto pilot right now?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Our regulatory work has continued in some respects.  We have continued the financial audits; we've continued to do some review of their operations.  We are now using the existing resources of the department to meet the requirements of the law, SB 228, that we report to you, the legislature, on State Fund's, on how State Fund is implementing the reform legislation.  So we are carrying out those activities which are normal.

The crux of the matter with Mr. Connelly and our lawsuit against State Fund or their refusal to allow Mr. Connelly to go in to do his work and our subsequent lawsuit, that's off the board.  We've gone a different direction because we simply ran out of time for Mr. Connelly to do his work.

MR. GARY COHEN ??:  Senator.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto has a question.

SENATOR NELL SOTO:   I just wanted to ask, can you think of a reason for refusing?  I mean they just point blank refused?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Let me ask my general counsel to answer that.

MR. COHEN:  Certainly, Senator.  There were two stated reasons that the State Fund gave.  One was the cost.  They thought it was going to be too expensive.  We'd given them an estimate of up to $500,000 to conduct this examination and they thought that was too much money.  We thought, in the context of a $15 billion organization…

SENATOR SPEIER:  For a potential savings of $294 million annually.

MR. COHEN:  …it wasn't that much money.  And then the second objection was essentially that they felt that we already had the information that we needed to -- right, there's a third, I'm reminded -- the second was that they felt we already had the information that we were asking for and the point that we were trying to make was, no, this really was a different sort of inquiry into their operations than the usual financial analysis that we do.

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Bolder steps.

MR. COHEN:  Right, and those were things that had been done right in the past.  We wanted current information.

The third was they questioned the competence of the particular people that we had said we wanted to use.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Connelly?

MR. COHEN:  Right.  And we felt Mr. Connelly, as the commissioner said, was supremely competent because he had been in the position of authority in New York and had achieved extremely positive results in turning around their problem.

SENATOR SOTO:  That was just their opinion?

MR. COHEN:  Correct.  And our view was that they don't really get to make that choice.  It's really our choice because under the statute, we're authorized to appoint whatever experts and assistants we want to do this kind of work.

SENATOR SOTO:  Since you have the responsibility to take care of the taxpayers' money.

MR. COHEN:  Right.

SENATOR SOTO:  That seems to me would have been…

MR. COHEN:  The other comment I wanted to make, Senator Speier, was that I think it's fair to say that at a staff level, communication between the department and the State Fund is ongoing.  In other words, I don't think it would be accurate to say there's been a complete stop of any back and forth.  But it is strictly with respect to information sharing and reporting that we are continuing to engage in our responsibility, vis-à-vis, the State Fund.  When it comes to wanting to do anything or tell them we think you need to do this or that, that's where we run into, you know, kind of the stonewall.  And I've been faced a number of times since the lawsuit was filed with people in the department coming in and asking me, well, can we do this?  And I would say, well, you can but we will end up in court.  So it's had a real…

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let's go back in time.  Let's say Superior was still alive and well and they had an IBM study that said they had $294 million of savings they could see enjoying if they just changed their operational procedures.  What would you do with that information normally?

COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Let us assume the starting point is that Superior was in deep financial trouble and under some level of regulatory control, regulatory action or control.  We would require Superior to develop a corrective action plan.  We would then review it and either accept or modify that action plan and then monitor the implementation of the action plan.  And should they fail to implement or need additional things that needed to be done, there would be a subsequent action of plan and then there would be an order forcing them to carry out the action plan.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Let's just separate out the RBC dispute completely.  You have an IBM study here that says, you know, you've got some operational problems here.  You can be saving $294 million.  If you look at the law without the dispute over RBC, do you not have the authority to go in and say to State Fund, you know, you've got to clean this up?

MR. BAUM:  Senator, I think the distinction that is drawn, and I've actually heard it, the State Fund make this argument, well, you don't, you're not doing an operational audit of State Farm or you're not doing an operational audit of Allstate.  There is a threshold that brings the department in, in its financial condition.  And when the financial condition, whether you define it by RBC or you just define it by the circumstances of their assets and their surplus is in the condition, RBC is the most sophisticated and useful method.  But if they are in serious financial difficulties as they have been in the past, that is the threshold for them going in and saying, what is the cause of this?  Where are the areas where one can improve and save and build surplus and that's, in effect, once we've done that, that's exactly where we go in.

SENATOR SPEIER:  You know, I don't necessarily agree with you, I guess.  You know, market conduct exams are done by your department on a regular basis.

MR. BAUM:  Absolutely.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Go in and look at whether or not insurers are following the law.  And I would argue that this is no different.

MR. BAUM:  I don't disagree with that at all, and what I'm just suggesting is the massive nature of this.  If we found, as we have with respect to fraud complaints and as we have found with respect to market conduct and claims management issues, we do send folks in there and we would, we would, in fact, direct orders where we need to based on market conduct examinations.

The difficulty we have right now is that the regulatory relationship we have is pretty much as Ms. Oki described it, which is that we are getting information.  But when we issue a, when we are in a circumstance where we direct an action, such as directing the examination by Mr. Connelly, we find ourselves in a position that describes, that you've described, as a conflict or turf war because our only recourse, if they refuse it, is to go into court and enforce the order, and that's what we did in the case of Mr. Connelly.  But that’s not how you should regulate.

SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  I guess I’m looking at it from a different point of view.  Insurers, from time to time, sue the insurance commissioner, correct?

MR. BAUM:  Sure.  Oh, yes.  Oh, yes.

SENATOR SPEIER:  It happens.  That doesn't mean that the insurance commissioner then freezes and doesn't continue to perform his duties in terms of oversight of insurance companies and market conduct exams and reviewing whether or not they are acting appropriately.  And here you've got some pretty definitive evidence, both in terms of the IBM study and your own review of the fraud complaints that are filed to you, and I'm getting the impression that the fact that they filed a lawsuit has frozen your ability to…


MR. BAUM:  The first response that we had was we were sending Mr. Connelly in.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Excuse me, Rick.  The Senator's coming from a different point here.  Let me see if I can get to it.


With regard to RBC and the actions that we would take under RBC, we have the lawsuit that has stalled that whole process.  With regard to the other reviews and regulatory actions that might be available to us under market conduct, for example, we are proceeding with examinations in that area.  What the result of those examinations will be is to be determined through the examination process.  We now…


SENATOR SPEIER:  How many market conduct exams have you initiated since July of 2003?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  We are now in the department or, excuse me, we are now in State Fund conducting market conduct examinations as we speak, field rating and underwriting examinations.  Those are in place; those are going on as we speak.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that in response to the IBM kinds of questions?


MR. BAUM:  I didn't mean to confuse you with my reference of Connelly but that was a market conduct exam in response to the IBM.  We were sending Connelly in to do it.  When we had the issue with Connelly, we thought we could resolve it with an immediate injunction.  That delayed, we had independently sent in our regular market conduct folks and specifically requested follow up to those IBM issues.  So that's what we're doing.  It is focused on IBM.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you're doing them with internal staff as opposed to an independent party?


MR. BAUM:  Exactly, exactly.  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But you are engaged in…


MR. BAUM:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  All right.  Let's do this now.  Let's bring Ms. Oki back and ask the staff to step back.


SENATOR SOTO:  May we take a break?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Oh, you want to take break?  Okay.  We'll take a five-minute break.

*** BREAK ***


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Now that we sort of have a framework, Mr. Hanson, thank you for joining us.  You weren't here in the original comments made by Ms. Oki.  But maybe you can just share with us a few thoughts.


You are a voting member of the board.  Oh, you're an ex-officio member as well.  Okay.  So when the board actually votes, you don't get to vote?


MR. _____ HANSON:  ________.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Could you push your button and make sure it's on?


MR. HANSON:  Sure. We don't have a formal vote but we have a very collaborative structure so, really, it's pretty open to the three additional ex-officio members to participate in the discussions and help drive the policy debate.  We don't vote but we are involved in the decision making.


SENATOR SPEIER:  When the discussions took place about Mr. Connelly, could you tell us a little bit about that?


MR. HANSON:  We did have a discussion about adding, asking another oversight to come in and the board discussed, when we're looking at -- we're always looking at saving policyholder money.  I'm a policyholder, people that I represent my day job are policyholders, and we looked at the cost of $375 an hour for three different people, $1,000 an hour to come in and read reports that we thought had been done in times past -- there have been two or three additional studies that had been done at a cost of almost $2 million -- we thought that that was something that was excessive.  I think that members of the board felt that they were qualified even though there is vast difference between New York and California, but how are you going to find any place that compares to the size of the California State Fund?  But we understand there are significant differences between how the state regulations apply in New York versus California.  We would have to assume that they would take however many hours to get up to speed at whatever cost.  But I think it basically was just a cost factor, was the primary disagreement with the report and the feeling that there had been previous studies that had looked at the exact same thing and looking too at the statute that passed last year that said that the oversight was going to be focused just on financial aspects.  And the board members felt that the idea was for the auditors to come and then go beyond what was actually written in the statute.  I think that caused a little bit of heartburn for people.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So it was presented to you that the insurance commissioner had requested that Mr. Connelly be hired and then Ms. Oki and the staff recommended that you not support that; is that how it went?


MR. HANSON:  It was an open discussion.  They did recommend that they not be hired and they gave us reasons for; we asked for reasons against.  We asked about what kind of cost savings are we looking at.  We looked at the IBM study.  We had a presentation, a briefing on that in previous meetings.  A lot of the cost savings that came out of that report would have been outsourcing state employees.  State Fund's a quasi-state agency.  They're all state employees.  My day job is an official at the State Building Trades Council.  We like keeping unionized employees that are under our contract.  We don't really agree with outsourcing and contracting out.  So a lot of the savings of the IBM study, we thought, were kind of off-based.


But we were looking at, really, it was basically the financial piece of it and maybe $500,000 isn't a large amount in a multi-billion company but we still thought that would have been a cost savings.


MS. OKI:  May I just say…


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  Actually, we're not finished.  You can talk after.  Let me finish my question of Mr. Hanson.


So for instance, if 5 percent of the workers' compensation claims accounts for 95 percent of your losses, did that not suggest that, separate from the issue of contracting out employees, that there needed to be some internal reviews done to try and take those most costly claims and deal with them differently?


MR. HANSON:  Definitely.  And I believe that that's underway.  We had a presentation at our last board meeting and the board has become a lot more active than, I believe, it had been in times past.  You know, it's difficult, an organization that's, plus, it's doubled in size in the last couple of years, like any company, and it was under a hiring freeze, the governor's time, to grow that far and I think that there are significant problems that need to be solved there and significant organizational work that needs to be done.  I understand.


When the management presented us at our last board meeting a flow chart of what the IBM recommendations were and the timeline for that, they are working on all the different pieces and I hope that they made a presentation to that or provided that information.  And I’m sure they should and could move faster and it's critical.  As a policyholder, we want the rates to be as low as possible, so there are rooms for additional savings and anything that -- everybody can be involved.  I think everyone has the same goals of getting towards that peace.


SENATOR SPEIER:  IBM also said, that unlike many of the other insurers in this State of California, that State Fund does not receive regular discounts from the top medical providers.


MR. HANSON:  That's outside my knowledge.  I've been there a year and a half and I'm one of the longest-serving board members.  The two ex-officio members were just added under AB 749, the Calderon bill, a couple of years ago.  So there didn't used to be folks who were on there besides appointees of the governor.  So the three ex-officios, I believe all three of them, were added under the new statute.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So of the five members that are there, are they all fairly new as well?


MR. HANSON:  They're all fairly new.  They're all appointees of Governor Davis.  Two of their terms have expired and they're continuing on in that capacity while the governor is deciding whether to appoint different people or to keep them there.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Oki, what's the average length of stay then of these appointees?


MS. OKI:  Well, prior to the last go-around, I don't have the exact figures but we had people that were on the board for 15 years, ten years.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let's look at the present board.


MS. OKI:   The present board, we had one long-serving member, Arthur Cassell ??, who's been appointed, I think, under perhaps even the Wilson administration.  I'm not sure.  (Cross-talking)  The rest are relatively new and have been appointed by Gray Davis.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Hanson, I have, I think, alarming concerns for the ability of the board to do its job the way it's configured right now.  You meet once every other month?


MR. HANSON:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  For about four hours.  And how many billion dollars…


MR. HANSON:  Actually, we usually go a lot longer.  They're probably about six-hour meetings.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Six-hour meetings.  Okay.


MR. HANSON:  But still, that's a small amount of time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it's a $7.4 billion company as you referenced?


MR. HANSON:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If you were to make some recommendations on how the board could become more productive in oversight, what would it be?


MR. HANSON:  I think it would be good to have more involvement from additional agencies, from the commissioner's office.  I don't understand or see why there shouldn't be someone that could represent the commissioner's office there, expanded cooperation with the governor's office.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  ________________________?


MR. HANSON:  There's a representative from the Department of Industrial Relations so that's the governor's representative, then one from the Senate and one from the Assembly and then the five appointed members that are appointed by the governor.  But I think additional cooperation there.  You know, granted, that this organization has, you know, as you imagine, an IBM that doubles in size in the span of two years, it's a tremendous growth.  Because it's just a gigantic organization, I think the more involvement with more people would be a good thing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I don't know if you were here when the commissioner said that less than 3 percent of the referrals to the Department of Insurance for workers' compensation fraud comes from State Fund.  Were you here when he made that statement?


MR. HANSON:  I know that and that was alarming to the board members when we learned of that and we were extremely dismayed; we brought that up at a board meeting and said we demanded that the management take action and said that's going to be something we want to have reports on at every single meeting subsequently, and so we asked for that to become a priority because it was clear.  We looked at it as, you know, one, what's the focus on this?  We want to make sure that it is a focus.  Two, I think because of the constraints on the number of employees that were presently working on the Fund and they grew at the huge rate and they didn't have the ability to add more employees because of the employee freeze, do they work on doing fraud or do they work on adding a new business that comes that wants to open workers' comp?  So I think we're looking at it that way but we ask for there to be a greater impact, analysis and focus on that because we were very alarmed about that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you think the board should be a more active board, meeting more often, maybe paid a larger stipend to run the $7 billion company?


MR. HANSON:  I don't accept my stipend but the pay, I don't think would probably matter.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So we get what we paid for from you?  Is that what you're saying?  (Laughter)


MR. HANSON:  No.  That would be more than you're paying for actually.  We get a lunch every once in a while and good coffee.


SENATOR SPEIER:  In all seriousness…


MR. HANSON:  I think it should meet more.  I mean it's the equivalent of really the UC system, I mean probably in scope and size, and it has the same kind of quasi-public entity in it.  I don't know how much oversight the UC regents have on the UC system but I'd say that it's a comparable, just structure, from a political structure and it’s a gigantic organization.  It's been there for 80 years.  It served the state very well, it seems, and they haven't had, they don't have a poor track record.  But I think, because of the situation of the workers' compensation right now, the more involvement and more oversight and the more cooperation that can happen, it's only going to make everybody stronger.


SENATOR SOTO:  Do you think that…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  …excuse me…that only 3 percent of California's fraud is reported?  It just doesn't seem to me like we have 53 percent of the market.  Only 3 percent of fraud?


MR. HANSON:  It's alarming and we were alarmed but the focus either was someplace else or the inability to complete that task because of the lack of employees.


SENATOR SOTO:  How do you account for that?  How do you account for that?


MS. OKI:  Well, ask him what percent of the convictions that he had were State Fund cases that were sent to him.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If you send a small percentage and they're slam dunks, then probably your percentage is very high but you're 53 percent of the market.


MS. OKI:  Yes, and probably 50 percent of the fraud convictions.  So, in other words, do you want…


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know what, Ms. Oki, I appreciate your effort in trying to defend your position but you cannot say that 3 percent of the referrals is an adequate oversight job by the Fund.  Your own board members suggested that's a problem and says that the board suggests it's a problem so I think…


MS. OKI:  But I do think we have -- maybe this is wrong -- we were present at the fraud hearing that just took place.  And given the fact that only, what, a very small percentage of the referrals are actually acted upon, we took the stance that we would rather not refer by numbers so much as fully blown investigative cases.  Now maybe that is not the way to go.  If the numbers mean more than the work going in to putting the cases together, we may need to just change the stance rather than…


SENATOR SPEIER:  What do you think the policyholders would want you to do?


MS. OKI:  Our policyholders would want us not to be just showing off referrals of numbers that go nowhere.  I think they would like us to take the best cases, the ones who are the most serious frauds where we can prove them, investigate them thoroughly, and turn them over to the district attorneys offices and the Department of Insurance for prosecution and get a bottom-line effect.


I haven't polled them on this but that would be my guess, that they would like something to be rather effective as opposed to just numbers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I would speak as -- well, actually, I’m not.  I'm not a client.  But for those that are close to me and who are clients, I would suggest to you it's not showing off to legitimately file complaints about workers' comp to local district attorneys or to the insurance commissioner and I would also suggest to you, based on a hearing that we had in my district where representatives of the Fund were there, the DA that was there suggested that they don't get any cases and that furthermore the Fund doesn't have to investigate them because the DAs will investigate them.


MS. OKI:  Well, that isn't totally…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, that's the case of San Mateo County.  I won't speak for…


MS. OKI:  But since we're here at the legislature, I will point out one area in which you could help it.  There is case law that has shown, that if you identify someone as a potential fraud person and you haven't investigated this, you can be sued, an insurance company, and held liable for so designating.  It would be helpful if that area, legislatively or whatever, could be strengthened so that there would be more protection.  I think there may have been some parts of the reform discussion in which there was a little bit more protection for insurance companies actually added in.  But as that area that gets into the courts, that will help tremendously because no one wants to be just throwing out numbers and getting sued over them without investigating them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you're saying that you did not file workers' comp fraud cases for fear that a percentage of them might have been…


MS. OKI:  No.  Some of them, we didn't file because we just didn't probably pick up the ball and run with it as much as we could, given we were under hiring freezes and other things and our priorities went in another direction, so I don't want to claim that we were doing this magnificent job.  But part of it was the fact that we were under the belief that we should not just refer them immediately but should take a look and investigate them to make sure before we referred them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Then the Department of Insurance investigates them and then district attorney investigates them.


MS. OKI:  Very little happens.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Ortiz has a question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And based on those points as well, my question was going to go to Ms. Oki or Mr. Hanson on the solution on IBM's recommendation.


Mr. Hanson, you addressed one of the points about -- I don't know if it was Mr. Connelly or if it was the IBM report in terms of potential cost savings but to do so through outsourcing which is, I think, a policy decision for the legislature that I don't favor so I think you made your point regarding that piece.


But let me ask you whether you or Ms. Oki can address IBM's, at least alleging that there were missed opportunities for medical provider direction as well as whether or not, since that report or during the time of that report, that there was an adequate fraud detection mechanisms in place to determine those 5 percent that are riding the 95 percent of the cases.  Do you believe that that report was accurate, which goes to our question regarding whether or not 3 percent initiated by SCIF.


MS. OKI:  I think we have a ways to go in the fraud as I’m sure that…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you share with me what you put in, what was in place at the time the report was done and what has been done since then to put fraud protection mechanisms in place?


MS. OKI:  What we had is a Fraud Investigation Program, a separate program within the fund which is staffed with people who specialize in investigations of fraud.  We also have a legal unit that goes with it and these people specialize in the same area.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Was that before…


MS. OKI:  That was before.  What we have done since is to expand the number of what we call fraud liaisons within the claims function to help channel possible referral cases into the FIP, the Fraud Investigation Program, and I think that there is much work to be done.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask another one because I think it's important.  Have you seen an increase in the number of cases that are reaching whatever you determine your threshold and level of fraud to be able to either refer to prosecution or…


MS. OKI:  Only marginally, and what we're going back through is the Fraud Investigation Program is going back through and retraining all of the adjusters in the area of fraud detection, to help bolster that number.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me ask you on that point.  The audits that you referred to, which was fairly revealing and quite prevalent, the audit that was done of the Fraud Detection Unit in the Department of Insurance, there were a number of issues that were raised there and I think the numbers were like 87 percent of those cases that were referred from a department.  Very few resulted in actual prosecution and I think, or conviction, and I don’t know that those numbers -- I think some of the observations in the Bureau of State Audit's Report regarding the Workers' Comp Fraud Unit in the department may be applicable to the inability or ability to how much fraud can you actually cull out of any system.  But one of the criticisms was that you had a lack of information and uniformity in the standards that are applied not only in the unit within DOI but rather, also, in I think the Bureau of Labor Standards, that it appeared to be chaos across the system.


Is there coordination with your fraud unit in terms of its standards and what your thresholds are with any of the other systems that are charged with detecting fraud?


MS. OKI:  Just very limited.  There is an overall lack of coordination.  When you say "systems," you're talking maybe tax reporting.  Is that what you're referring to, these various other things?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  …provider fraud or beneficiary fraud is most of what the Bureau of State Audit Report criticized the department's fraud unit.



Let me go to the point of the medical provider rates that was brought up that could be some realized cost savings.  Have you begun to negotiate or at least…


MS. OKI:  Yes, we have.  I think it's been written up pretty extensively, the State Fund-Kaiser Alliance has gotten very good results in terms of cost savings and we also have a very extensive preferred provider network now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is the Senate in your network?


MS. OKI:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Was it in your network?


MS. OKI:  I don't believe it was ever in the network but I would have to check to give you an absolute answer.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I'm sorry.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This area of fraud, Madam Chair, it's very frustrating to me because you have like at least three or four different overlapping sources, and I mean one of the things that was probably or maybe revealing in the Bureau of State Audit Report was sort of the observations in the department that there are no clear, sort of following of standards to say, you're supposed to go after cases that are state cases that are indicative of sort of industry-wide or service-area-wide sort of fraud and I think that was the figure, that 87 percent of those cases that were referred ultimately were not in that category and that very few were.


The Audit Report also said, well, maybe we haven't been clear as to what, you know, we should give direction on what fraud ought to be chased.  It was really disturbing because it almost concluded that maybe there isn't a system that can in fact cull out fraud in any kind of, whether they were initiated from the DA and went to DOI and then went back to the DA or whether they came from DOI and went to the DA.  In the end, very few cases of large, widespread provider fraud weren't the cases that were being prosecuted.  And of those cases being prosecuted, very few resulted in convictions which is troubling to me because we're definitely using huge resources, missing the mark on the cases where we should be focusing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, and the other question, the other issue is, fraud is not defined as excessive fee which…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might make some comments.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or excessive use.


Yes.  Go ahead commissioner.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The entire area of fraud in this system needs to be understood in the context of the total system.


Prior to the legislation that this legislature enacted last fall, 227, 228 legislation, followed up by 899, there was no clear definition of what was appropriate medical procedures as well as what an appropriate fee would be, leading to an extraordinary, abusive situation and a situation in which fraud, which is a defined, criminal act, was difficult to determine.


Now fortunately, major steps have been taken to provide that definition.  That will have a very, very significant impact on what many would consider to be fraud when actually it is abuse of the system.  Now with regard to fraud, in the years, in the decade '95 to the present till 2003, the Department of Insurance had neglected its responsibilities for coordinating and energizing the fraud.


When I came into the fraud effort, the anti-fraud effort, when I came into office, we sought to energize and to direct and to provide the necessary resources to deal with fraud.  That required us to work more closely with insurance companies, to issue emergency regulations which we have done, and to move towards permanent regulations, specifying exactly how the insurance companies should act.


The issue and all of that is in process together with Senator Ortiz, your point about prioritization.  We are, in our department, instructing the district attorneys, as well as the insurance companies, to go after the big cases where the big money is.  These are the organized, criminal gangs and that's underway.  It takes a while for those cases to mature.


The concern with State Fund, as demonstrated by the statistic that I gave to you earlier, that's been the basis of this discussion, is one in which State Fund has over the years set up a mechanism that handles very, very few cases.  Those cases that it does handle, it handles well.  We have no complaints about the quality of the cases that are referred to us.


But if you go out in any public and any employer in this system, and apparently you did so, Senator Speier, you get an extraordinary number of claims.  They just don't deal with my concern about this fraudulent case.  It's endemic; it is everywhere, which raises in my mind this issue of State Fund's prioritization, apparently also in the board's mind about the resources that State Fund is applying to this and, more importantly, their claims management processes that would identify and direct them to target those suspicious cases.  It is a big issue.  State Fund is stressed and there's no doubt about the words that you've heard here -- the extraordinary growth, the stress, the hiring freezes -- all of those are very real and all of those are true.  However, none of those are a defense for what are you doing from one point forward?  What exactly are you doing to respond to the IBM issues or the other issues raised?


My task as commissioner is to, under the law, to audit in the board sense, examine State Fund's progress with regard to the implementation of 227, 228, and now the subsequent law, 899.  How is State Fund doing in implementing the necessary operation and management procedures to be able to pass those savings through?


I have other responsibilities, Senator.  You discussed this just prior to the break about the normal functions of reviewing the claims management, reviewing the financial, those issues.  We do that also and we report.


The fundamental reason for this hearing goes to the next step.  Having done that, do I as commissioner, does my department, do the subsequent commissioners have the authority to order State Fund to do what is necessary to correct whatever may be inconsistent with the law, inconsistent with regulations, or falls under the risk-based capital requirements?  That's the fundamental question and there is the division between and that has resulted in the lawsuit and the reason for this hearing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner, just one statement that you made, in the hearing that we had on workers' comp and Medi-Cal fraud, we had an expert from Harvard.  His name is Malcom Farrell/Farrow ??.  He's consulted with a number of states and I hope that he would someday come here and consult with us.  But the point he made, and he thought that in our Medi-Cal system we had, between $2 billion and $3 billion worth of fraud, and I don’t recall if he had a figure for workers' comp fraud, but he said it's not the big cases that kill you.  The fraudsters are so clever, that they learn what's going to kick a claim out and they stay right under the radar screen and they just do it in volume.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  I suspect, Senator -- please excuse me for interrupting you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So my only point is that big cases in and of themselves have some headline-grabbing benefit.  But in terms of really…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  But, Senator -- I'm sorry.  I keep interrupting you.


There are really three, in my view, three different kinds of fraud that we need to pay attention to.  One are the employers who are either mis-reporting or not purchasing insurance at all and that’s a major problem.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It is a major problem.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Now we fortunately have new laws.  We thank the legislature for giving us those additional powers.  Those became effective January of this year.  That's one kind.


The second kind are individuals who are simply abusing the system or cheating the system and may rise to the level of fraud.  It's the Monday morning accident.  It's the miraculous cure around 5 o'clock in the afternoon and on weekends.  It's there and it's in very large numbers.


The other kind is what I call organized criminal gangs -- the doctors, the lawyers, the chiropractors, others -- that are ripping the system off usually with multiple, small claims.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That's my point.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Yes.  And that's what we are targeting at.  I think we're really not disagreeing here.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  That's what we want to target.  The laws that have been passed particularly important is the definition of what is appropriate treatment, very, very important, in bringing about successful prosecution.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Oki, let me ask you a couple of questions just in terms of operation.


Has SCIF hired any experts from outside of its organization to look at individual claim files and to determine if overall you are properly reserving for those claims?


MS. OKI:  Well, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And who is it that you've hired?


MS. OKI:  We have an appointed actuary that does that, Milliman USA.  And in order to figure out where our reserves should be, they do look at a number of things, including claims filed.  Our auditor, KPMG…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who appoints that?  Who appointed the actuary?  Was it the board or you?


MS. OKI:  The board approves.  I usually recommend, the board approves, and I believe the insurance commissioner also has sort of an oversight of who appointed auditors and actuaries are if they want to exercise it, in other words, if they disagreed with the selection.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I’m not asking for auditor.  These are professionals that go in and look at the 5 percent of your claims that are 95 percent of your losses and do intensive reviews of those claims.  Have you ever had anyone do that?



MS. OKI:  Yes, from time to time.  We've never had anybody come in and look at all 265,000 claims that we have opened at any one time.  We've had people come in and do sampling, take a look at it on that basis.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And who are they?


MS. OKI:  We have had special actuarial reviews.  We commissioned one in 2003 and we've also hired…


SENATOR SPEIER:  And when did you do that?


MS. OKI:  That was in 2003.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who was it?


MS. OKI:  It was the actuary unit of KPMG, separate from the auditing unit that we hired to do our auditing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why would hire -- that sounds like an accounting nightmare again.  Why would you hire that same entity that, the consulting function of the same entity that's doing your actuary?  That's the kind of stuff that got Anderson into trouble and a number of companies.


MS. OKI:  Well, for the simple reason that, if we hired them to do it, then KPMG could rely on those results and we wouldn't have to pay twice for the same kinds of service; whereas if we had hired a different firm to do it, ordinarily, the auditors…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me just…


MS. OKI:  Okay.  One more thing, we have under contract a financial adviser who takes a look at all of this as well for us from an outfit back east.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who is that?


MS. OKI:  His name is Bill Lawry ?? and it's Capital Decision Sciences which is a firm on the East Coast to come and look at a number of our finances and reserving an overall.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And how did you identify that firm?


MS. OKI:  I'm trying to remember.  I believe that one of our reinsurance carriers had mentioned, you know, this fellow because we were looking at that time for someone to look at lost portfolio analysis and various other possible reinsurance plans and we decided we needed some financial expertise in that area because it was beyond the normal reinsurance that we would normally take.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How much did you pay him?


MS. OKI:  It's an ongoing thing and we pay him close to, I believe it's about $300 an hour.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Three hundred dollars an hour that you pay for this individual but you didn't want to pay Connelly?


MS. OKI:  I need to address a couple of things very briefly on that.   We were asked to do it in connection with the 228 report that the legislature asked the commissioner to give.  The way the law reads, it's very clear, they're asking for the commissioner's opinion on State Fund financial underwriting and rates.  That being the case, you would expect to hire if you're going to, someone who has financial background -- actuaries, accountants, this type of thing -- to review that if you were going to do it.  Nothing in the law says that State Fund policyholders should pay $500,000 for the special audit which is at the request of the legislature to report from the commissioner.  And I don't believe that those credentials to report on our financials when no one there on that team was an accountant or an actuary…


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Oki, I think you're missing my point.  My point is you hired a financial advisor at $300 an hour because it was recommended to you by a re-insurer.  You did not do a request for proposal.  You did not seek to find who was the best around.  You took the word of a re-insurer and hired him.


You then have KPMG do your audit and you have KPMG hired as your consultant to look at claims.  Well, if you don't think that's a potential conflict of interest, then I'm deeply troubled because, on the one hand, if KPMG says you are adequately reserved, then how could KPM Consulting come back with a recommendation that maybe you're not adequately reserved because these claims would suggest that you should have more reserve?  You are setting up a conflict of interest very similar to the conflict of interest that existed with Anderson that took that company down.

MS. OKI:  I do think that, when you have, A, in-house resources, B, you have Milliman USA, and you have an auditor, you have checks and balances as to the look at the reserves.

SENATOR SOTO:  Why would you risk that action being interpreted as a conflict of interest?  Why would you risk that?  To save money?

MS. OKI:  Part of it is to save money.  The other is there aren't that many firms out there that are available at the time you want them to do the work you what and…

SENATOR SPEIER:  But do you do request for proposals to find out if that's the case?

MS. OKI:  Yes.  We hired them after -- we did limit our search to the top companies because we didn't want the results in any way to be interpreted as buying an opinion.

SENATOR SPEIER:  You're talking about the audit now.  I'm talking about the financial adviser.

MS. OKI:  Oh, the financial adviser, no.  That was for very specialized lost portfolio transfer.  And when we asked around for other recommendations, the people that understood that very intrinsic and difficult situation, as it turned out, we had no other people surface.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  How many claims adjusters did you have prior to the lifting of the hiring freeze?

MS. OKI:  We had approximately 1,200 adjusters, about -- let's see.  I believe we had about 2,000 total claims people, the majority of which were adjusters, prior to the freeze being lifted.

SENATOR SPEIER:  You had 1,200 or 2,000?

MS. OKI:  Two thousand in claims, 1,200 of which were adjusters.  You have a lot of other voc rehab counselors, other professionals…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.

MS. OKI:  That d claims but they're not adjusters, so I'm giving you both numbers.

SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  And how many do you have today?

MS. OKI:  Okay.  Let me look.

We have, let's see.  Excuse me.  Those are the numbers we have now that I just gave you.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So you have…

MS. OKI:  We have 2,298 people in our district claims function.  That doesn't include claims people in the home office operation but in the district of which 1,261 are adjusters.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  And what did you have before the freeze?

MS. OKI:  Before freeze, we had 1,708 total in claims and we had 887 adjusters.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So you have picked up about 400 adjusters; is that correct?

MS. OKI:  That's approximately correct.

SENATOR SPEIER:  And in total, you've picked up about 500 in claims generally?

MS. OKI:  Yes.

What's the average caseload?

MS. OKI:  Per adjuster, for disability adjuster, it does vary but we try to keep it usually around, below 180.

SENATOR SPEIER:  One hundred and eighty claims per adjuster?

MS. OKI:  Um-hmm.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that what it is now?

MS. OKI:  I don't believe it's quite that high but that's what we try to keep it as.  I would have to do some research to give you the actual number as of today.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, you have 260,000 claims right now, right?

MS. OKI:  Yes.  But we have a lot of non-dis ?? claims and those are, of course, much higher caseloads which have to be included in there because they're pretty much bill-paying medical ?? onlys.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Are you adequately staffed now?

MS. OKI:  We believe so, yes.  The State Fund…

SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask you this question.  You believe you're adequately staffed?

MS. OKI:  I believe we have an adequate number of authorized positions.  The problem is, is that at any one given time, we don't have all of our positions filled.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So you gave me the actual number then for authorized positions, not the number you have filled?

MS. OKI:  No.  I gave, I believe I gave you the number that were actually filled as of now.  But the State Fund overall has 10,000 authorized positions and we probably don't at any given time probably have 5 percent of those positions that are not filled or in the process of being filled.

SENATOR SPEIER:  So in terms of insurance claim, you have about 220 people and you are maybe 5 percent away from what you are authorized; is that what you're saying?

What's your authorized number of claims, insurance claims personnel?

MS. OKI:  Like I said, I got your questions this morning so I'm making due with what I have in my briefcase.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The report was emailed to you yesterday, the same time that the members of the Legislature got it.  This is for the record.


MS. OKI:  I left at 2:30 in my office and it wasn't there then; so I'll take you're word that it came in at that point in time.


All right.  We have 2,298 authorized positions currently in the claims department. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you're almost at capacity?


MS. OKI:  Yes, in the claims area.  Claims adjusters have an average experience level of five years.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So the constituent calls that I get from employers, and I get lots, I'm now going to be able to say that the Fund is fully staffed and you're going to be able to have your claims handled in a timely fashion?


MS. OKI:  I believe so.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And what is a timely fashion?


MS. OKI:  I'm not sure I understand it.  But when we get the claim in, that the liability decisions are made swiftly, that first payments get out in a timely manner when they're due.  Permanent disability is identified as soon as the patient is permanent and stationary.  That would be the time they respond to the claim being filed.


SENATOR SPEIER:  On your Web site, you have the following paragraph:


"Within five working days from learning of an injury claim, we will establish a monetary reserve which reflects the probable outcome of the case.  This initial reserve will be based on the merits of the claim, the facts specific to the current injury, and our experience in dealing with similar injuries.  Reserves will be continually updated to reflect case development."


Are 100 percent of your files reserved within five working days?


MS. OKI:  Once they're in the system, they are computer-generated research.  We do not have probably what you would consider to be on the big claims, claims adjuster estimated reserves until about six months into those claims.  But money goes on reserves, what we call a standard estimate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  This is a computer-generated estimate.  It does not mean that you've had a claims adjuster look at the claim?


MS. OKI:  No.  We've had a claims adjuster look at the claim.  But what I'm saying is we don't have a claims adjuster necessarily make the reserve estimate within five days.  The money goes into reserves within five days on a standard estimate.  And if you'd like a further explanation on that, I can have our actuary explain the difference between what is a standard estimate and what is a claims adjuster estimate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  That's not necessary.


The one thing that is happening in healthcare is that it's changing daily.  What was done in a hospital five, seven years ago is done in an outpatient setting.  What was three days in the hospital is now a walk-away procedure.


Have you done any analysis to evaluate what will be the medical procedures that will be done five years from now?


MS. OKI:  We have a medical director that is an M.D. and we do have a medical director staff.  We tried to do that.  But to be honest, no one in our organization or probably anywhere can accurately predict, say, if you expect a claim to be open, a heart claim, over, let's say they have a life expectancy of 25 years, I don't think anybody can accurately say today what all the new procedures that might be of benefit ten, 15, 20 years down the road could be.  But do we try to look at that?  Do we have an actual medical staff that takes a look at what are the most modern and efficacious procedures?  Yes.  But predicting the future, I would say we're somewhat limited in our ability to do so.  We do have a medical staff that reads the journals, that takes a look at things that actually goes out to hospitals and other places looking at procedures.  But beyond that, we can't predict.


Commissioner, based on some of the comments that Ms. Oki has made as you compare other workers' comp firms, how would you kind of rate the Fund in its ability to -- did you capture those numbers?  Does that seem 180 per adjuster for disability purposes, is that consistent with what you see in the industry generally?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  The law, SB 228, required my department to seek an answer to your question.  We are going to do the best we can, given the situation that was described earlier, where the State Fund decided that it would challenge my authority to bring in the person that I thought appropriate to oversee the totality of the management and organizational effort necessary to undertake the changes required by the reform.  I don't have the answer to your question today.  We are in the process of doing that analysis as best we can with the staff that, while very good, does not have the overall management perspective that I believed was required to do the job.  Of answering your question completely, it's not just a question of numbers, for the number of employees in place and the caseload.  It really goes beyond that to the question of, are those people properly trained; do they have the resources necessary to complete the claim in a timely and appropriate, correct manner?  I don't know those answers.  That's what we're going to try to get to as best we can in the next month and two weeks, to deliver to you as complete an answer as we can possibly do.


There are issues of staffing level and the ratio of claims to staff, the training, all of those things are key issues -- the management oversight, the reporting requirements that lead to the opportunity for management to identify weaknesses and to address those.  Those are crucial.  And if you'll wait 41 days…


SENATOR SPEIER:  SCIF is not rated by A.M. Best; is that correct?


MS. OKI:  That's correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And why is that?


MS. OKI:  Well, initially when we talked to them, because, for probably 75 years of our existence, we were just never rated.  But when we started dealing with brokers, we tried to get ratings; and to some degree, we did.  But one of the problems is that, in talking to them, a mono-line carrier that only goes in one state and can't spread risk to other states and to other lines will inherently, usually, not have a very good rating.  So we didn't, we weren't very fond of the idea that we would spend money to get a bad rating so we asked some of our brokers and some of the people we dealt with, was this absolutely necessary?  In other words, this specific expenditure and whatever that we needed.  An answer we got back was probably not as a State Fund.  They probably couldn't do business with a carrier that wasn't rated.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it wasn't that AM Best wasn't willing to rate you.  You just decided you didn't want to be rated?


MS. OKI:  Well, some of them don't rate but some of them do rate State Funds.  Some of them don't feel like they can rate State Funds very well.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, does A.M. Best rate any other State Funds in the country?


MS. OKI:  They could very well.


Jim, do you know offhand if they do?


MR. NEARY:   ______________.


MS. OKI:  Two or three out of all the State Funds.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And who are they?


MS. OKI:  I don't know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So it's not that they can't rate -- they do rate -- And the issue about the mono-lines or crossing…


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Zenith Insurance Company?  Are you familiar with that company?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It's a workers' comp company.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I know that.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It does operate in another state.  It's a mono-line company.  It's rated.  The argument that mono-line precludes rating is not accurate.


MS. OKI:  No.  I didn't say it precludes rating, but they have told us, and whether it's true or not, that to the degree that you don't spread your risk, it affects your rating.


MR. HANSON:  You're riskier.


MS. OKI:  Um-hmm.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What are the ratings the other states fund?  Mr. Neary.  Mr. Neary, are you speaking to your lobbyist there?  (Laughter)


MR. NEARY:  I'm sorry.  I'm not supposed to be talking to…


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, no, no.  I was asking you a question.  You didn't hear me.


MR. NEARY:  I apologize.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That's all right.  Do you happen to know what the ratings are of those other State Funds through A.M. Best?


MR. NEARY:  ______ A-minus area.


SENATOR SPEIER:  A minus sounds like a good rating.  Is that a good rating?


MS. OKI:  I don't know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Ms. Oki, how do you measure the performance of your key managers?


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  If I might just pick up another piece of this.  Our chief of staff just reminded me that the California Earthquake Authority is rated.  It's a mono-line.  It's a government…


SENATOR SPEIER:  They has a very limited number of participants.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  It's rated an A minus.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  It's a very risky business.


Go ahead.


MS. OKI:  I'm sorry.  You were asking about managers?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.  How does SCIF measure the performance of its key managers?


MS. OKI:  The key managers usually have objectives and goals set out.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you set them?


MS. OKI:  It's usually a collaborative process.  I mean I don't unilaterally set them and then we measure against that performance level.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Does the board review them?


MS. OKI:  No.  They pretty much review my performance but I don't think that they actually review the performance of key managers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  I wouldn't expect them to review the performance of key managers.  But I'm asking you if they help develop the goals of key managers or…


MS. OKI:  No.  They don't write the job descriptions and the goals.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


Mr. Hanson, let me ask you this…


MS. OKI:  May I just ask a question, only so I can advise other people that want to meet with me.  But do you have an estimate of how long we're going to go?


SENATOR SPEIER:  We're going to wrap up very soon.


MS. OKI:  Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Hanson, could you describe for the committee the discussion that took place when the board considered filing suit against the department?


MR. HANSON:  I don't believe that was something that we discussed prior to action being taken and it may have even predated my time there.


MS. OKI:  It predated your time.


MR. HANSON:  It predated my time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Have you had any discussions about the lawsuit since you've been a member?


MR. HANSON:  Yes, we have.  We get, of course, updates on that every single meeting and we get the letters from the commissioner to us, commissioners from the State Fund to us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And how would you describe the board's direction to the president about the lawsuit?


MR. HANSON:  The discussion we've had has been on the RBC level, on whether we believe that we fall within, under RBC.  So we've had that discussion just as a policy-level discussion at the board and looking at the history and having the information that's provided to us.  We believe that we were not part of the RBC and believe that it was an unfortunate course of action that's happening now that seemed to be that there was no other option, barring the involvement of the legislature and/or the governor, and looking at it as policyholder and trying to keep the rates as low as they can if we need to take the next billion and a half dollars of savings that come out of these reforms and put it into the surplus and that's money off the table or rate reductions which would be a significant amount of money that doesn't get passed on.


The board has told us -- the manager -- pardon me -- said that they don't believe that we're in danger and the actuaries concurred with that.  We think the lawsuit's very unfortunate.  It just seems, frankly, dysfunctional.  I think personally there seems to be a little animosity between the two key parts of the lawsuit that maybe go beyond a little bit about the merits of the lawsuit and it's clearly not the most productive way to go.  But the issue of an RBC is a serious issue that has a gigantic impact on where the rates are going to go.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So the board has not instructed Ms. Oki to attempt to negotiate a settlement?


MR. HANSON:  Actually, we have.  And the board members themselves have been involved in trying to negotiate a settlement, but it doesn't seem that the options that we discussed and talked to both parties about weren't amenable to the parties that were involved.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you think the court is the only place to go?


MR. HANSON:  I think the legislature and/or the governor can also be another place to go with the lawsuit, a clear decision of whether State Fund is under RBC or not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Has the board ever shared with you the Senate analysis of Assembly Bill 1985?


MR. HANSON:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Just so that you know, and we might have discussed this before you came into the room, this analysis specifically, it's the floor analysis on which the Senate deliberates.  It specifically references that the property and casualty insurers and the context the provisions relating to risk-based capital to include the State Compensation Insurance Fund.  So that was language in the Senate Analysis of that bill that is now being disputed through the lawsuit, for what it's worth.


Okay.  I think that we're going to allow each of you to make some closing comments.  I want to thank you all for participating.


Thank you in particular, Mr. Hanson, for your participation as well.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Why don't we have, the commissioner starts.


COMMISSIONER GARAMENDI:  Madam Chair, and if Senator Soto and Ortiz were here, I would extend the same gratitude to them that I extend to you for this hearing for bringing these issues you spoke earlier, a necessity for bleach, sunlight, and openness is an equally good agent of bleaching out an issue and we very much appreciate that.  For the state that's been patient through all of this and providing you with information and for their willingness to work with us and I’m sure with the State Fund in developing information, we thank you.


With regard to the issue at hand, there's a very fundamental issue here about the laws of the State of California.  When I took this office, I swore to uphold the laws of the state.  In our view and the view of our attorneys and apparently in the view of the state Senate in analyzing the legislation before it, risk-based capital applies to State Fund.  There is no doubt in my mind that that is the case and that's my task to do that.


Now within that context, there's something that needs to be understood.  It's clearly understood by me and in fact I use this understanding when dealing with State Fund in the spring of 2003.  Risk-based capital has four different areas of levels of concern.  State Fund in the spring of 2003 had fallen into a very, very serious level.  It was either at the most, at the level of the most concern or near that level of concern.  There was a reasonable argument to make that it had fallen to the point where it would be under mandatory control, i.e., conservatorship.


What has not been stated is that the commissioner has discretion on what the commissioner can do in such circumstances, in fact, in all four levels that the commissioner has discretion.  I used that discretion to state very clearly that I had no intention of conserving or taking over State Fund.  Nevertheless, we were given a lawsuit over this issue.  That lawsuit is very, very deleterious to the well-being of the State of California.  It is sapping enormous energy from my department in the things that we must do, not only with regard to State Fund but with regard to other insurers.  It is clearly sapping the energy of State Fund and mis-directing resources in both of our departments.  The lawsuit should end.

I'm calling upon this legislature and specifically upon the governor to make it clear one way or the other.  Either I regulate this organization, as I do every other insurer, or I do not.  I think the governor has the authority, as do I, and the responsibility as do I, to uphold the laws of the state and I would, if he sees the law differently, then we are probably going to proceed with a legislative solution to this problem.  The lawsuit is not the way to go here.  It is going to be months, if not years, before this is resolved and this conflict will continue in that vein.

I have things that I would like to see State Fund do.  I would like to see State Fund do what other insurance companies do, which is to allow us to conduct the appropriate examinations.  I found it most interesting that they're willing to go out and hire somebody at $300 an hour of their choice but refuse what is the standard procedure for every insurance company to accept an examiner that I would bring in at exactly the same price.  Five hundred thousand dollars?  Yes, that's a lot of money.  We're talking about a $7 billion operation that affects perhaps as much as 80 percent of the insured market of California.  Virtually every small employer is impacted by the way in which State Fund operates.

Any legislator that spends any time talking to their constituents knows that there's a serious problem with State Fund.  I would like to conduct my normal activities under the law, normal in the sense of every insurance company.  And the additional responsibility placed upon me under SB 228 to report to the legislature on the implementation of the reforms by State Fund, I would ask the board of directors, since they also took the same oath I did, to review very carefully the Senate analysis and to take control of this organization.  Sarbanes-Oxley makes it very clear for every board of directors around this nation, perhaps excluding the state operation, the responsibility of boards of directors.  This board must take control of this operation.

I have suggested to the legislature that, in that regard, the two non-customer members be added to the board as voting members, to provide an additional perspective, and that the board be given the opportunity to appoint six additional exempt managers so that the very best managers -- it's not to say the current managers aren't the best -- so the board through time can find the very best managers of the most important insurance company to the State of California's economic well-being, State Fund.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.

Ms. Oki.


MS. OKI:  A lot has been said about the various audits of State Fund and I think, just for clarification, with the exception of the Connelly audit related solely to 228, we have given 100 percent cooperation to all the various audits that are being conducted by the commissioner at State Fund which includes market conduct audits, financial audits, fraud audits, claims, underwriting, a number of audits that are ongoing right now and for which we are very cooperative.  So I want to make a distinction between that one 228 audit and all of the normal audits.


A lot has been said here about whether State Fund should come under RBC or not.  That is a public policy question, whether the State Fund should come under RBC and therefore protect its finances by limiting the amount of business it writes to the appropriate premium, given the surplus we have, or to not be under RBC and therefore be able act as that shock absorber, as we were called earlier on, and be given the leeway to voluntarily meet RBC guidelines as best we can during periods of tremendous growth.  I'm not going to give you the answer.  You know where I stand on that but I'm just repositioning that important public policy question.


A lot has been said here about financial stability and I want to leave you, Chairman, and any other members of your committee that may be listening in, that the State Fund is financially viable.  We did get a clean opinion as of 12/31/03.  And I think there is so much focus on the State Fund that the whole issue of the financial solvency of workers' compensation here has gotten kind of muddled in the sense that a lot of them went out of business, that the rating bureau, which is the commissioner's rating bureau as well, has indicated that they believe the workers' comp industry in California of insurers is $8.7 billion under-reserved.


Now we're talking here about the State Fund having maybe, if you go with the commissioner, a $750 million under-reserved.  I believe we are completely well reserved.  It's always focused on the Fund and I just want to leave you with this thought:  If we have over half of the market and we have 700 at most -- 750 million of that 8 billion plus, where is the rest of it and why do we only talk about the Fund sometimes?  That's just kind of a theoretical question I have to throw out, if the issue is health insolvency of worker's comp care.


That's all I have to say.


Thank you for the opportunity to meet with you and answer your questions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Hanson.


MR. HANSON:  I would say it's a privilege to serve as a board member of the State Fund, and my time there at the last year and a half has been pretty extraordinary.  I found myself and our other board members in the crossfire of things we had no idea when we're being appointed and a very steep learning curve.  I look forward to serving more years and learning more about the board.


I'll assure you that all the board members take their responsibilities very seriously.  We've met with the commissioner many times.  We ask a lot of questions of the Fund management and I think all the emphasis has helped increase our commitment to being involved in the operations of the Fund.  I think any and more cooperation that can happen between the commissioner and the State Fund would be welcome, and I think the legislature being more involved is a very positive thing.


State Fund was created 90 years ago in statute and is entirely a creation of the legislature and thus entirely under the legislature's control.  And I think part of what I saw, my early duty as a board member, was to show that State Fund should be a partner in helping lower workers' compensation costs because of the ability of the legislature to control totally the operations of State Fund and that they are a resource and because they have such a large market share that's grown exponentially the last couple of years.  They're in a unique place to lower compensation rates.


I know lot of the folks in the audience that are representing insurance companies don't want State Fund to lower their rates.  They want to keep the rates where they're at and it's a business capital decision.  And as a board member, we're looking to make our rates as low and competitive as possible and it's kind of a Catch 22 and it's an interesting spot to be because State Fund was created to create a marketplace that was the checks and the balances, and State Fund was created to be the balance on an otherwise system that was operating just as a for-profit system.  So it's interesting to see the interplay between these that want to see workers, State Fund not lower its rates and keep its rates high so they can operate at a great profit or some type of profit and where all this interplay happens.  So I just ask that the legislature to look at that when State Fund is under the examining scope, that there's probably a lot of different interests that are at play at this.


As a board member, as a policyholder representing 400,000 people in my day job, we want the rates to be as low as possible and as competitive as possible so we can ____ all the small businesses that are employing my workers can thrive and have as much take-home pay and have a good life like everybody else.  We need to have a competitive marketplace.


I'm very opposed to seeing non-policyholders be added to the board because where are their interests going to lie?  Are they going to lie in trying to lower rates if they're not even getting the workers' compensation from that entity?  It seems paradoxical.  But I think everyone here at this table has the same goal.  We want to see a State Fund that is stable, that is protecting the money of the policyholders, that provides as a check and balance on the entire insurance market, and can be there as an insurer of last resort when it needs to play that role also.


So I am privileged to serve as a board member and at your disposal, of yourself or any of the other members at any time, and we look forward to having more conversations and getting direction and being there for the people of California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.


I want to thank you all for participating in this hearing and for the staffs who have prepared the presentation here.


I will tell you that it's really a travesty when two agencies are in a lawsuit against each other.  It shouldn't happen; it certainly shouldn't continue.  I do believe you're all people of good will and that, if you really wanted to, you can resolve it and I think that the taxpayers and the policyholders deserve no less.


The IBM study is deeply troubling and it would suggest to us that, if we can believe these figures that you've got another, almost $300 million in savings within the fund just in operations that needs to be addressed immediately -- this reminds me of a sandlot fight that's gotten out of hand and it's not good for all of us who serve in the public sector, who have the public trust, to allow this to continue.


It's pretty clear to me that risk-based capital is a component of the State Fund.  It's in the bill; it's in the analysis.  The commissioner has made it clear he has no interest in wanting to take the Fund under conservatorship.  There's got to be a way of resolving this.  But when the majority of the employers in the state rely on State Fund to give them protection they need in workers' compensation insurance, we've got to make darned sure that we are the leanest, not so meanest, but the most streamlined operation, the most effective operation to make sure that that premium is as low as possible and I think it's incumbent on all of us to redouble our efforts to make sure that the fund is operating at its most optimal level and to make sure that all of the reforms that we have spent so many hours trying to put in place will really bear the fruit.  The fruit is lower premium for everybody and more immediate healthcare for the injured worker.


So with that, we will call a conclusion to the hearing and thank you all for being here.


The meeting stands adjourned.
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